NA 5.5-	98
0/1 = 0	FILE ND J. WHITE
	D J. WHITE
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FL	ORIDA FEB 9 1998
CASE NO. 91,519	CLERK, SUPREME C
L.T. # 96-2265	Chief Deputy Cler

191

BARBARA WHITE GENTILE,

Petitioner,

VS.

GARY BAUDER,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. GINSBURG Miami-Dade County Attorney 111 N.W. 1st Street, Suite 2810 Miami, Florida 33128-1993 Telephone: (305) 375-5151 (305) 375-5634 Fax:

By

Thomas H. Robertson Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 301991

and

James J. Allen Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 317861

. .

•

·

III

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a Petition invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review *Bauder v. Gentile, 697* So.2d 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (*"Ruder II*'), which expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Stogniew v. McQueen, 656* So.2d 917 (Fla. 1995), *Dep '1. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656* So.2d 906 (Fla. 1995), *Mobil Oil Corp. v. Shevin,* 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977), and with the First District Court of Appeal's decision in *Walsingham v. Dockery,* 671 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). This Court has accepted jurisdiction.

Plaintiff Gary Bauder (Bauder) sued Barbara White Gentile (Officer Gentile) far alleged civil rights violations under 42 U.S.C. \$1983 seeking to hold the officer *personally* liable for the results of a search and arrest.' (R. at 1-9.) ² This appeal arose after the trial court granted the off'cer's Motion For Summary Judgment, finding that the officer had acted reasonably in obtaining a search warrant and was therefore entitled to qualified immunity. On appeal, the Third District determined that the police off'cer is collaterally estopped from raising the defense of qualified immunity in this civil rights suit. The collateral estoppel results from issues determined in the criminal action-to which the off'cer was not a **party**---- resulting in the officer potentially being held *per* se liable in this action. (R at 96-97.) Officer Gentile was, at the relevant times, a detective in the Special Investigations Division of the Metro Dade Police Department. (R. at 22.) She had attended numerous classes and

¹ He also made 3 claims against Miami Dade County, which remain pending in the trial court.

² The record consists of only one volume and, as such, citations will be "R. at "

seminars in child pornography and pedophilia. (**R**. at SO.) In November 1990, Office Gentile received information from Metro Dade detective Judy Gable that Bauder wa believed to be involved in sexual assaults upon children. (**R**. at 22, 65.) Specifically, **Gabl** told Officer Gentile that she had received information that Bauder was frequenting area "where young boys were at and possibly photographing them and getting them high." (**R**. a 65.) Officer Gentile was familiar with Bauder, having arrested him in 1986 for crime involving child pornography. (**R**. at 63.) Officer Gentile was also aware that Bauder "**ple**t out" to those charges, and was sentenced to probation. *Id*..

Based on Gable's report, Officer Gentile began another investigation of Bauder including surveillance and interviews. (R, at 66.) Specifically, Officer Gentile contacted the reporter of the information, James Buzzella; a witness, Debbie Buzzella; and two boys who had been seen with Bauder. (R. at 66.) She interviewed the boys on December 3rd ant December 17th, 1990. (R. at 73.) She interviewed the Buzzellas prior to that.

Officer Gentile also interviewed the parents of the two boys who had been seen with Bauder. They reported that one of the boys had spent a weekend with Bauder, and that he had slept for two days thereafter. (R. at 68.) One of the boys added that Bauder would furnish limousine rides and marijuana to the boys, and that they had seen other boys in hi apartment "totally wasted on drugs or alcohol, passing out in the apartment," (R. at 69-70.)

The investigation resulted in the officer seeking assistance from the State Attorney' Office with the preparation of a search warrant and supporting affidavit. (R. at 74-79, 42-44 21-22.) To that end, Officer Gentile met with Ruth Solly and Richard Shiffrin of the State Attorneys Office on numerous occasions. (R. at 76, 44.) At that time, Ms. Solly was member of the Sexual Battery Division for the State Attorney and Mr. Shiffrin was the Chie

of the Legal Division for the State Attorney. (R. at 22, 24.) The attorneys reviewed the warrant and affidavit and made changes as they desired. (R. at 44, 22, 24.) In fact, Shiffrir wrote most of the warrant and affidavit. (R. at 22.) The affidavit ultimately included all of the information known to Officer Gentile. (R. at 71) Both attorneys advised Officer Gentile that they believed that there was adequate probable cause stated for the warrant **anc** affidavit. (R. at 74-77, 22, 25) The warrant and affidavit were also reviewed by Officer Gentile's sergeant and lieutenant who both determined that the warrant and affidavit stated probable cause. (R. at 77, 22) Based upon this, **Officer** Gentile believed that probable **cause** was adequately stated in the warrant and affidavit for it to be issued. (R. at 82, 23)

The warrant and **affidavit** were presented to a Circuit Court judge on January 8, 199 I who found probable cause and issued the warrant. (R. at 77.) The warrant was executed or January 11, 199 1 and, based on photographs found during the search, Bauder was arrested.

After his arrest, Bauder moved to suppress the results of the search. His motion tc suppress was heard by a second Circuit Court judge, who denied the motion." Bauder was later convicted of the charges and sentenced to 30 years in state prison. He appealed that conviction resulting in the Third District Court's decision in *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), *review denied*, 624 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1993), *("Nader I")* which found probable cause for the warrant and affidavit to be lacking, and reversed the conviction.

Officer Gentile defended this civil action by asserting qualified immunity. She filed a Motion for Summary Judgment supported by affidavits and depositions from Assistant State Attorney Ruth Solly and herself, (R. at 19-26, 38-52, 53-88.) In response to Officer

^{&#}x27;There is no citation to the record for the suppression hearing or its denial. However. for the issue to have been preserved for appeal, it must have been heard and denied.

Gentile's Motion for Summary Judgment in this action, Bauder filed no counter affidavits and no evidence of any kind. No allegations or evidence of misconduct or collusion by 7Officer Gentile were ever presented. Bauder did not even submit the warrant and affidavit tc 7the trial court for the summary judgment determination, Bauder relied *solely* on the decision of the Third District Court in *Bauder I* to preclude Officer Gentile from asserting any 7defenses. The trial court, upon consideration of the affidavits and the depositions, ruled for 7Officer Gentile. (R. at 94.)

The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the summary judgment, precluding; Officer Gentile from raising the defense of qualified immunity based on the prior r determination in *Bauder I* that "the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of f probable cause." *Bauder I at* 547. (R. at 96-97.) Since the warrant and affidavit are not a part of the record in this action, it is clear that any determination on sufficiency of the warrant t and affidavit made by the Third District in this action was the result of issue preclusion based upon *Bauder I*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 1990, the police received information that Gary Bauder apparently was involved in luring young boys into his house, giving them drugs and alcohol, and using them for child pornagraphy, For this same behavior he had been previously arrested by Special Investigations Detective Barbara Gentile and had been sentenced to probation. Through surveillance and witness interviews, Gentile learned and confirmed that Bauder was again drawing youths into his house, giving them drugs and alcohol, and keeping them overnight. She took this information to two assistant state attorneys, and with their help drafted a warrant and affidavit that was approved by two circuit court judges, one who issued the warrant and one who denied Bauder's subsequent motion to suppress. But the Third District reversed Bauder's conviction and held that Bauder's affidavit failed to state probable cause.

Now Bauder is suing Officer Gentile personally. He contends that, based on the reversal in his criminal case -- a case where Officer Gentile was not a party -- the Officer cannot assert her defense of qualified immunity defense that has never been previously addressed. The Third District has accepted Bauder's contention, but in doing so it plainly erred and contradicted this Court's well-established law.

Officer Gentile cannot lose her defense of qualified immunity through the ruling in a case where she was not a party and her defense was not addressed. By denying the Officer's qualified immunity based on a prior ruling in another case, the Third District applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel. But that doctrine requires the identity of parties and of issues. Here there were neither. The other party in Bauder's criminal case was the State of 'Florida, not Officer Gentile. Officer Gentile was not represented by the State, and indeed

was not the focal interest of the State, And the issue in the criminal conviction involved the *actual* probable cause necessary to sustain a search warrant, not the *arguable* probable cause necessary to sustain the defense of qualified immunity. By denying Officer Gentile the defense of qualified immunity based on a ruling in a case where she was not a party and the defense was not at issue, the Third District has denied Officer Gentile her due process.

Beyond that, once the merits and well-established principles of qualified immunity are considered, it is clear the trial court properly granted Officer Gentile summary judgment. Qualified immunity is a "good faith" defense, based on *arguable*, not actual, probable cause. Officer Gentile should be immune from personal liability as long as officers of reasonable competence could disagree about whether a warrant should issue, Here, circuit court judges experienced state attorneys, and Offficer Gentile's supervising officers all unanimously agreed that the search warrant should issue, In addition, Bauder did not satisfy his burden of showing the law clearly establishes that Gentile's affidavit was deficient. Accordingly. Officer Gentile is entitled to qualified immunity.

The Third District's decision should be quashed and the judgment in favor of Officer Gentile should be reinstated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review with respect to the lower appellate court's application of preclusion doctrines is *de novo*. The standard of review with respect to summary judgments generally is whether there was suffkient competent, substantial evidence before the trial court from which a jury could have lawfully drawn an inference against the prevailing party under the issues framed by the pleadings in the case. *Wills v. Sears, Roebuck & Co*, 351 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1977). However, because entitlement to qualified immunity is generally a question of law, the standard of review in this case on that issue is de novo.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING GENTILE'S QUALIFIED SUMMARY IMMUNITY JUDGMENT BASED ON ITS PRIOR OPINION, BECAUSE A PARTY CANNOT BE STRIPPED OF THE PROTECTION OF QUALIFIED **IMMUNITY WHERE SHE WAS NOT PARTY TO** THE PRIOR DECISION, AND WHERE THE TWO ISSUES DECIDED IN THE PROCEEDINGS WERE NOT IDENTICAL.

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeals applies *Bauder I* as though it has collateral estoppel effect on the parties and issues in this action. The opinion in this case specifically states, "In the instant case, *where this Court previously found* that 'the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause,' . . . the shield of immunity is lost." *Bauder II* at 1222.⁴ (citation omitted). In so doing, the Third District precludes Officer Gentile from raising the defense of qualified immunity based solely upon the *Bauder* I decision. This is in error in that Officer Gentile was not a party to the criminal case, and

⁴ All emphasis is supplied unless expressly noted otherwise.

because the issues sought to be precluded in this action were not actually adjudicated in the criminal action,

The Third District opinion is contrary to the large body of case law, including many decisions of this Court, which requires that there must be identity of parties and issues for collateral estoppel to apply, Stogniew v. McQueen, 656 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1995), Dep 't. oj Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1995), Mobil Oil Corp. v. Shevin, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977). In fact, the Third District erroneously failed to follow its own numerous precedents which properly apply these clear rules. See, e.g., Baxas Howeli Mobley, Inc. v. BP Oil Co, 630 So.2d 207 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), West v. Kawasaki Motors Mfg. Corp., U.S.A., 595 So.2d 92 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), Hochstadt v. Orange Broadcast, 588 So.2d 51 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), Prudential Ins. Co. of America v. Turkal, 528 So.2d 487 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). In all of these cases, the fundamental requirements for the application of collateral estoppel are that: (a) the parties to the actions must be identical, and (b) the issue sought to be precluded in the latter action must be identical to the issue adjudicated in the prior action. Here, Officer Gentile was not a party to the prior action, and the objective reasonableness of her actions in obtaining and executing the warrant and affidavit was not adjudicated.

Α.

THE PRIOR DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT CANNOT STRIP GENTILE OF HER QUALIFIED IMMUNITY BECAUSE SHE WAS NOT PARTY TO THAT CASE.

This court has recently revisited the requirement of mutuality of parties for collateral estoppel⁵ in Stogniew v. McOueen, 656 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1995). There, this court was presented with the issue of whether an administrative determination of professional misconduct could be used offensively as conclusive proof of the facts underlying that determination in a subsequent suit against the professional for negligence based on the same; facts. Id. at 918. The court first recounted that "Florida has traditionally required that there; be a mutuality of parties in order for the doctrine [of estoppel] to apply. Thus, unless bot 1 parties are bound by the prior judgment, neither may use it in a subsequent action" Id. att 9 19 (citations omitted); see also Starr Tyme, Inc. v. Cohen, 659 So.2d 1064 (Fla. 1995)) Trucking Employees of North Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano, 450 So.2d 843, 8455 (Fla. 1984) ("[T]he well established rule in Florida has been and continues to be that collateral estoppel may be asserted only when the identical issue has been litigated betweer 1 the same parties or their privies."). This court therefore rejected Stogniew's argument that Florida should abandon the requirement of mutuality in the application of collateral estoppel, explaining that "any judicial economies which might be achieved by eliminating mutuality would be [insufficient] to affect our concerns over fairness for the litigants." Id at

920. See also Dep't. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656 So.2d 906 (Fla 1995), Mobil Oil Corporation v. Shevin, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977). This Court reaffirmed its holding in *Stogniew* in *Starr Tyme, Inc.* v. *Cohen*. Clearly, Officer Gentile was not a party to the criminal case. The State of Florida and the defendant are the only parties to a criminal action.

It also can not be said that Officer Gentile was somehow in privity with the State of Florida. In Florida, for one to be in privity with a party to a lawsuit or for one to have beer virtually represented by a party, one must have an interest in the action such that she will be bound by the final judgment as if she were a party. *Stogniew*. Officer Gentile had no such interest here. As found in *Stogniew*, a complaining witness (Officer Gentile) is not a party of privy and is not "virtually represented" by the State. The Third District has similarly recognized that in a criminal action, the State Attorney does not act in a representative capacity as to a county or its employees. *See Metropolitan Dade County v. Curry*, 632 So.2c 667 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (order directing county law enforcement officer to return property not valid absent notice and hearing to the county). Certainly, the State Attorney does not represent the personal interest of an officer. Nor are issues or strategies which might affect her in a subsequent action properly considered by the State. This is dynamically demonstrated in this case, where the State failed to raise the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule in its brief on appeal. (R. 115-154.) It is fundamentally unfair to preclude

⁵ "Collateral estoppel, also known as estoppel by judgment, serves as a bar tc relitigation of an issue which has already been determined by a valid judgment." *Stogniew*. **656** at 919.

an officer from raising a defense where the officer has had no input regarding the prior determination.

Although no Florida court has had occasion to address the precise scenario *sul b judice*, other courts have. In *Trujillo* v. *Simer*, 934 F.Supp. 1217 (D. Colo. 1996), for example, the court granted summary judgment to the defendant officers, and rejected plaintiffs' contention that the prior criminal court order granting their motion to suppress barred the officers from relitigating the constitutionality of their conduct. The court found the doctrine of estoppel inapplicable because the officers had not been parties in the crimina 1 case and were not in privity with the United States. *Id.* at 1224. The court explained:

The criminal case was brought on behalf of the United States of America. The Assistant U.S. Attorney who prosecuted the criminal case was representing the United States, not the interests of the individual Defendants in this case. The defendants in this case had no control over how the criminal case was handled and no ability to appeal Chief Judge Matsch's decision. Under these circumstances, there was no privity between the United States and the individual Defendants in this case. See *Garza v. Henderson*, 779 F.2d 390, 394 (7th Cir. 1985); *Duncan v. Clements*, 744 F.2d 48, 51-53 (8th Cir. 1984); *Warren v. Byrne*, 699 F.2d 95, 97 (2d Cir. 1983); *Davis v. Eide*, 439 F.2d 1077, 1078 (9th Cir.), cert. *denied*, 404 U.S. 843, 92 S.Ct. 139, 30 L.Ed.2d 78 (1971); *Griffin v. Strong*, 739 F. Supp. 1496, 1503 (D. Utah 1990).

Id. The same reasoning applies to the present case. The criminal case was brought on behall f of the State of Florida. The Assistant State Attorney represented not Officer Gentile, but the State. Officer Gentile had no control over how the criminal case was handled, and certainly no control over the State's appeal, wherein the State inexplicably didn't even cite to *Unitect States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)*, the seminal Supreme Court case on the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule. (R. at. 115-154.)

Bauder I should not have been used to preclude Officer Gentile from asserting her requalified immunity. The Third District's opinion is therefore erroneous, in conflict with three established precedents of this Court set forth in the *Stogniew* case, and itself sets a precedent which is contrary to the public interest. The trial court's Order Granting Summary Judgment should have been affirmed and the decision of the Third District should be reversed.

B. GENTILE IS NOT BOUND BY THE THIRD DISTRICT'S PRIOR DECISION BECAUSE THE ISSUES THERE WERE NOT IDENTICAL TO THOSE IN THE PRESENT ACTION

A second independent reason why it was error for the Third District to strip Officer Gentile of her qualified immunity is that its prior decision did not address the identical issue presented in the civil case. This requirement of identical issues is particularly important; where, as here, a plaintiff seeks to use the prior judgment offensively. *See*, *e.g.*, *Suri Chevrolet, Inc. v. Crespo*, 623 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) ("[T]he well established | rule in Florida has been, and continues to be, that a prerequisite to the offensive use of collateral estoppel is that the *identical* issue has been litigated between the same parties."). Absent mutuality of issues sought to be precluded, the decision of the Third District in this case is improper and should be reversed, *Dep 't. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M.*, 656 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1995) (issue sought to be precluded by collateral estoppel must have actually been determined in prior case); *Mobil Oil Corp. v. Shevin*, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977) (parties and issues must be identical for collateral estoppel to apply).

Bauder will surely argue here, as he has in the past, that the decision in *Bauder I* that "the affidavit given in support of the search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations

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