IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOIUDA

Case No. 91,519

BARBARA WHITE GENTILE,

L.T. No, 96-2265

Petitioner,

٧.

GARY BAUDER,

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAD 24 1006

MAR 24 **1996**

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

ANDRE ROUVIERE, ESQ. 145 Almeira Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33 124 and

JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 19 West Flagler Street, Suite 407 Miami, Florida 33 130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Cooperating attorneys, Greater Miami Chapter of A.C.L.U.

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

McGory involved no affidavit. Probable cause existed. The officer made a split-second, life or death decision. Here, there was an affidavit. Here, the affidavit was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the Petitioner's suspicion to the level of probable cause. Here, the Petitioner acted at her leisure.

The Petitioner complains **that** placing her personally at risk would place an inordinate chilling upon the actions of police officers. That is nonsense. To hold her personally liable is consistent with the Constitution, consistent with Federal law, consistent with *Malley*, and would chill only illegal and unconstitutional actions of police officers, *which must be chilled*.

The Petitioner asks, what more is a police officer to do? The answer is simple. She can obey the Constitution and laws of the United States.

B

FEDERAL LAW GOVERNS; THE ADVICE OF COIJNSEL CONFERS NO IMMUNITY UPON THE PETITIONER.

Federal law governs. *Howlett v. Rose*, 496 U.S. 356, 110 S.Ct. 2430, 110 L.Ed.2d 332 (1990). *Howlett* was a 1983 action brought in Florida court. The issue was whether a state statutory sovereign immunity defense was available to a school board which had been sued in State court even though such a defense would not be available if the action had been brought in a Federal forum. The Supreme Court unanimously held that the defense was not available:

^{cc}... the elements of, and the *defenses to*, a federal cause of action are defined by federal law...." (496 U.S. at 375, 110 L.Ed.2d at 353)

The Supreme Court explained:

"... since the Court has held that municipal corporations and similar governmental entities are 'persons,'..., a state court entertaining a § 1983 action must adhere to that interpretation, 'Municipal defenses – including an assertion of sovereign immunity – to a federal right of action are, of course, governed by federal law.'...'By including municipalities within the class of 'persons' subject to liability for violations of the Federal Constitution and laws, congress – the supreme sovereign on matters of federal law – abolished whatever vestige of the State's sovereign immunity the municipality possessed.'..." (496 U.S. at 376, 110 L.Ed.2d at 353)

Malley, of course, held that:

 $^{\mathbb{C}}$., , if no officer of reasonable competence would have requested the warrant, his request is outside the range of the professional competence expected of an officer. If the magistrate issues the warrant in such a case,

his action is not just a reasonable mistake, but an unacceptable error indicating gross incompetence or neglect of duty. The officer then cannot excuse his own default by pointing to the greater incompetence of the magistrate." (475 U.S. 346, n.9, 106 S.Ct. at 1098-1099, n.9) (Emphasis Added)

If the issuance of a warrant by a judge does not excuse the incompetence of the officer, how can the incompetent advice of an incompetent prosecutor excuse the incompetence of the officer? Can state law supercede Federal law?

The Petitioner's reliance upon *Kalina v. Fletcher*, U.S. ____, 118 S.Ct. 502 (1997); *Briscoe v. La Hue*, 460 U.S. 325, ____ S.Ct. ___ (1983); and *Tenney v. Brandhove*, 341 U.S. 367, ____ S.Ct. (1951), provides her with no comfort.

Kalina was a 1983 action against a state prosecutor who had submitted a "Certificate for Determination of Probable Cause" that summarized the evidence supporting the charge. The prosecutor personally vouched for the truth of the facts set forth in the certification under penalty of perjury. Predicated upon her certification, the trial court found probable cause and issued an arrest warrant. The plaintiff was arrested and spent a day in jail. About a month later, the prosecutor dismissed the case.

The complaint focused on the false statements made by the prosecutor in the certification. She moved for summary judgment on the ground that she enjoyed absolute prosecutorial immunity. The trial court denied the motion, holding that she was not entitled to absolute immunity and whether qualified immunity would apply was a question of fact. The Ninth Circuit affirmed. It noted that under *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092, 89 L.Ed.2d 271 (1986), "a *police officer* who secures an arrest

warrant without probable cause cannot assert an absolute immunity defense," and then held that the prosecutor's "actions in writing, signing and filing the declaration for an arrest warrant" were "virtually identical to the police officer's actions in *Malley*." *Fletcher v. Kalina*, 93 F.3d 653, 655-656 (1996). The Ninth Circuit concluded that "it would be 'incongruous' to expose police to potential liability while protecting prosecutors for the same act." 93 F.3d at 656,

In affirming, the Supreme Court held that:

"There is a difference between the advocate's role in evaluating evidence and interviewing witnesses as he prepares for trial, on the one hand, and the detective's role in searching for the clues and corroboration that might give him probable cause to recommend that a suspect be arrested, on the other hand. When a prosecutor performs the investigative functions normally performed by a detective or police officer, it is "neither appropriate nor justifiable that, for the same act, immunity should protect the one and not the other.". . . Thus, if a prosecutor plans and executes a raid on a suspected weapons cache, he 'has no greater claim to complete immunity than activities of police officers allegedly acting under his direction.". . ." (U.S. at _____, 118 S.Ct. at 507-508)

The Supreme Court concluded that in swearing to the certification the prosecutor:

"... performed an act that any competent witness might have performed...

* * *

... Testifying about facts is the function of the witness, not of the lawyer. No matter how brief or succinct it may be, the evidentiary component of an application for an arrest warrant is a distinct and essential predicate for a finding of probable cause. Even when the person who makes the constitutionally required 'Oath or affirmation is a lawyer, the only function that she performs in giving sworn testimony is that of a witness." (U.S. at , 118 S.Ct. at 509-5 10)

Justice Scalia, joined by Justice Thomas, agreed:

"I agree that Ms. Kalina performed essentially the same 'function' in the criminal process as the police officers in *Malley* v. *Briggs* . . . and so I join the opinion of the court. . . " (____ U.S. at ____, 118 S.Ct. at 510) (Scalia, J., concurring)

If a prosecutor had done that which the Petitioner did, she would be liable. The Petitioner is liable.

Briscoe merely held that a witness who testified at trial was immune from damages for perjury. Tenney held that legislators were immune from suits for damages, when acting in their legislative capacity, under 1983.

The Petitioner's citation of Glass v. Parrish, 51 So.2d 717 (Fla. 195 I); Royal Trust Bank, N.A. v. Von Zamft, 5 11 So.2d 654 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Arney v. Department of Natural Resources, 448 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1984); Toomey v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 3 11 So.2d 678 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975); and Kilburn v. Davinport, 286 So.2d 241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), is futile. First, all these cases accept Royal Trust Bank were decided before Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092 (1986). Second, Federal law governs a 1983 action brought in state court: "... the elements of, and the defenses to, a federal cause of action are defined by federal law. ..." Howlett v. Rose, 496 U.S. 356, 375, 110 L.Ed.2d 332, 353 (1990) (Emphasis Added). A state defense simply is no defense. Third, if no officer of reasonable competence would have requested the warrant and the judge issues the warrant: "...The officer then cannot excuse his own default by pointing to the greater incompetence of the magistrate." Malley v. Briggs, 475 US. 335, 349, n.9, 106 S.Ct. 1092, 1098-1099, n.9 (1986). If the issuance of the warrant by the

magistrate does not immunize the police officer, the approval of the affidavit by an attorney cannot possibly immunize her.

The Petitioner's citation of Hollingsworth v. Hill, 110 F.3d 733 (10th Cir. 1997); V-1 Oil Co. v. Wyoming Dep't. of Envtl. Quality, 902 F.2d 1482 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, (498 U.S. 920 1990); and United States v. Taxacher, 902 F.2d 867 (11 th Cir. 1990), similarly provide no support for her.

Hollingsworth involved no affidavit and no Malley situation. A claim of domestic abuse was involved and a husband sought an ex parte protective order through the filing of a petition with the state district court. The order was served upon the defendant in the same manner as the summons. Thus, the police officers had no involvement in obtaining the order, unlike the Petitioner whose affidavit was used to obtain the warrant to search Mr. Bauder's home. Additionally, there was no Fourth Amendment violation in Hollingsworth. Moreover, the legal advice concerned the police officer's response to a court order, not the sufficiency of an affidavit for a warrant, which the officer himself had submitted. V-1 Oil Co. involved the validity of a statute which had not been tested. The search was warrantless. V-1 Oil did not overrule Malley.

C

THE LAW WAS CLEARLY ESTABLISHED AT THE TIME THE PETITIONER VIOLATED MR. BAUDER'S RIGHTS THAT SHE WAS LIABLE FOR DAMAGES FOR OBTAINING A WARRANT PREDICATED UPON HER AFFIDAVIT WHICH WAS TOTALLY DEVOID OF FACTUAL RECITATIONS

SUFFICIENT TO RAISE HER SUSPICION TO THE LEVEL OF PROBABLE CAUSE.

The Petitioner's argument that the law was not clearly established at the time she violated Mr. Bauder's rights can only be described as bizarre.

The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, ratified in the last decade of the Eighteenth century, provides that:

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, *but upon probable cause*, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." (Emphasis Added)

The Fourth Amendment and its exclusionary rule are applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *Mapp v. Ohio, 367* U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684 (1961). An affidavit for a warrant must contain probable cause. *Aguilar v. Texas, 378* U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. *1509* (1964); *Spinelli v. United States, 393* U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584 (1969); *Illinois* v. *Gates,* 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 23 17 (1983). The Third District cited *Gates* for the fundamental principle that the information supplied for the issuance of the search warrant must demonstrate a fair probability that evidence of crime would be uncovered. 613 So.2d 547.

Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092 (1986), of course, held that: "... Objective reasonableness ... defines the qualified immunity accorded an officer whose request for a warrant allegedly caused an unconstitutional arrest." 475 U.S. at 344, 106 S.Ct. at 1098. Thus: "... only where the warrant application is so lacking in indicia of

probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable, ... will the shield of immunity be lost." 475 U.S. at 344-345, 106 S.Ct. at 1098.

In *Kelly* v. Curtis, 21 F.3d 1544 (11 th Cir. 1994), the Eleventh Circuit ruled that the police officer was liable for obtaining an arrest warrant predicated upon an affidavit which fell woefully short of establishing probable cause:

"[defendant's]... affidavit articulates neither the basis for her belief that [plaintiff] violated the law nor any affirmative allegation that she had personal knowledge of the circumstances of [plaintiff's] alleged crime. By seeking an arrest warrant on the basis of such a conclusory affidavit, [defendant] appears to have violated a clearly established constitutional right of [plaintiff]." (21F.3d at 1555) (Footnote Omitted) (Emphasis Added)

How can Petitioner argue that the law was not firmly established prior to the presentation of her affidavit to a judge on January 7, 1991 (R.6)?

The Petitioner's argument that the law was in doubt, at pp.28-31, is disingenuous at best. She refuses even to mention *Malley*, which governs, She does not because there simply is no argument to rebut *Malley*'s clear and specific holding.

The shallowness of the Petitioner's argument is confirmed by carrying it to its logical conclusion, No officer would ever be liable under her theory because every factual situation is different. Since every factual situation is different, there would never be an earlier case decided on the very facts of any case in litigation. Fortunately, that is not the law. *Malley* commands that, when the warrant application is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable, the shield of immunity is lost. *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. at 344-345, 106 S.Ct. at 1098.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT APPLY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL; RATHER, IT SIMPLY APPLIED PRECEDENT.

The District Court of Appeal reversed Mr. Bauder's criminal conviction. *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA), *reviewed denied*, 624 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1993). The Third District held that: "..., the affidavit given in support of the search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause. ..." 613 So.2d 547.

Here, the Trial Court granted the Petitioner's Motion for Final Summary Judgment on the ground of qualified immunity. The issue in the Respondent's appeal was the sufficiency of the Petitioner's affidavit in support of the search warrant. This was the same affidavit which the Third District concluded in the criminal appeal was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the Petitioner's suspicion to the level of probable cause. The issue was purely legal. The Third District invoked the precedent of Mr. Bauder's criminal appeal to conclude that the Petitioner had lost her immunity:

"In the instant case, where this Court previously found that 'the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause,' *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 Fla. 3d DCA), *review denied*, 624 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1993), the shield of immunity is lost. Accordingly, we find that the trial court erred, as a matter of law, by granting the defendant police officer's motion for summary judgment." (*Bauder v. Gentile*, 697 So.2d 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997))

The correctness of Mr. Bauder's position is illustrated by a simple example: Assume *arguendo* that this Court reverses the decision of the Third District and holds that the Third District improperly utilized collateral estoppel. The cause is remanded to the Third District. The issue remains the same: whether a reasonably objective police officer would have submitted such an affidavit in seeking a warrant. The answer must be no. The Third District has held that an identical affidavit was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause. *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. *denied*, 624 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1993). Surely, the Petitioner does not argue that the Third District should ignore its own precedent. Would the Petitioner's position be stronger if another police officer's identical affidavit had been held to be totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise that affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause in another case?

Therefore, very simply, a reversal by this Court would be a useless gesture and destructive of precedent, whose purposes are to preclude the endless litigation of settled issues and to bring stability to the law.

THE PETITIONER WAIVED ANY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL ARGUMENT BECAUSE SHE FAILED TO RAISE IT TN EITHER THE TRIAL COURT OR THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL; THE PETITIONER'S FIRST MENTION OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL CAME IN HER MOTIONS FOR REHEARING AND FOR REHEARING EN BANC, WHICH OF COURSE WAS TOO LATE.

It is fundamental that this Court will not consider issues that were not raised before the Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal. In *Morales v. Sperry Rand Corp.*, 601 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1992), the petitioner attempted to argue an issue that was presented neither to the trial court nor the district court of appeal. This Court rejected the attempt:

"... This issue was not raised before the trial judge and was not discussed by the district court in the opinion under review. We therefore decline to address this issue...." (601 So.2d at 540)

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